
Coolbranch Farm 
Coolbranch Road 
Churchville, MD 21028 

HA-144 

SUMMARY 

Located on a tributary of Deer Creek and on the tract, "Halls Rich Neck", 
Coolbranch Farm is one of the most beautiful farms in Harford County, with broad 
rolling hills and virtually no modern development with view. Indeed, the farm is 
much as it was at the beginning of the 20th century--the 2-1/2 story, 8 bay by 5 
bay brick and stone house retains the form it had evolved into in 1866 when Jeremy 
Mcilvain owned it and 6 of the outbuildings (including the icehouse/smokehouse, 
granary, corn crib and a barn) date from the mid-to-late 19th century, 3, including 
a dairy barn, from the early 20th century. The house itself is deceptive; it includes 
a 5-bay early 19th century house on the West end and a stone kitchen buildino in the 
ell, although the 1866 addition on the East and improve~ents (like brick veneer on 
the stone kitchen) dominate the earlier structures, presentino an impressive and 
relatively cohesive front (although an incoherent rear). 
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Cool Branch Fann 

This 2-1/2-story, gable-roofed brick and stone house is located on the North 
side of Cool Branch Road and faces South. 

Although the structure comprises five separate sections, an overall superfic­
ial description is useful: Set on an uncoursed cut stone foundation, the structure 
is el-shaped, 8 bays long on the South facade and five bays wide on the East side 
with the ell, with overall dimensions of approximately 74' by 49'5 11

• Attached 
to the North end of the ell is a 2-story stone smokehouse/ice house, which measures 
24' by 15'. A one-story hip-roofed stone wing, measuring 20' by 12', extends 
from the Northwest corner of the ell; a shed-roofed clapboard addition covers the 
two second story southern bays of the ell's West side. 

The roof has wide eaves with a boxed cornice supported on modillions; there 
are five donners in the south slope of the roof, two in the east slope of the 
roof of the ell. The gable-roofed donners have wide eaves and gable returns. 
Windows have 6/6 sash and both panelled and panelled-and-louvered shutters. There 
are four brick chimneys with corbelled caps located in the three ends and between 
the third and fourth bays from the East in the South section. Entrances are located 
in the third bay from the East in the South facade, the westernmost bay of the Nor··­
facade and the center bay of the ell's East and West facades. A three-bay, hipped­
roof porch spans the entrance and flanking bays on the South face, and a one bay, 
hipped-roof portico marks the entrance on the ell's East side; an enclosed porch 
covers the entrance in the North face of the South section. 

More specifically, the five sections decompose as follows: 1) the five 
western bays of the South section (47'2" X 21 ') constructed between 1798 & 1814; 
2) the three eastern bays of the South section (26'3 11 X 21') constructed in 1866, 
as per datestone in the East gable; 3) the three North bays of the ell (30' X 20'5 11

) 

stone on the North and West sides, brick on the East side, and built sometime 
before 1866; 4) the one-story stone wing on the Northwest; 5) the icehouse/smoke­
house, now connected to the house at the North end of the ell. 

1) The part comprising the 5 West bays of the South section is laid in Flemish 
bond with beaded joints on the South side and West end. The center bay of the South 
face has an elliptical brick arch and the brickwork indicates that there was an 
entrance here originally. Windows in the two westernmost bays are slightly shorter 
than those in the other three bays of the South facade. There is a seam between 
this section and the East section in the second story. The line of an earlier 
porch extends across all but the western-most bay. The North facade, laid in five 
or six stretcher bond, shows evidence of alteration, but it is not clear what that 
alteration consisted of. Between the second and third bays from the West is a 
slight seam in the brickwork of the first story, and the brickwork appears altered 
under the second story window in the second from the West bay. 

"See Continuation sheets # 1&2 11 
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BUILDER/ ARCHITECT 

The western five bays of the brick South section, which measure approximately 
47' by 21 ',probably comprise the 45 X 20 brick house ascribed to William Brown, 
tenant, on the 1814 Tax Assessment. At that time, this farm, part of the tract of 
"Hall's Rich Neck" was owned by Freeborn Brown, who had purchased it from William Cox. 

The 1814 Tax Assessment credits Freeborn Brown with 670 acres of "Hall's Rich 
Neck" and "Good Neighborhood", 19 slaves, and one farm worth $13,400, the other -
and the one now called Cool Branch Farm - with the 45 X 20 brick house, an 18 X 26 
brick kitchen, a 58 X 30 barn, meat house, stable, 3 outhouses, a 26 X 20 grist mill, 

-a sawmill and house--valued at $2,000. 

Brown died in 1825 and left all of his real and personal estate to his wife, 
Mary B. Brownl, who, 3 years later, left to her son, William,''the plantation where 
he now lives'' called "Hall's Rich Neck" with a one-acre mil1 and seat. 

At her death, Mary B. Brown's inventory includes 3 houses in Havre de Grace, 
another called j'lhe Banking House: and 3 water lots--all with ground rents. 

The value of her real and personal estate is listed as $3,284.64. 

In 1843, the property "on which William Brown now resides" was sold to Jeremiah 
Mcilvain who must have built the 1866 addition and made most of the improvements 
that superceded the earlier Federal house. 

Various members of the Mc!lvainfamily owned the farm until 1908. 

Architecturally, the house is fascinating as a study in the evolution of taste 
over the 19th century. The early 19th century section is distinctive for its Flemish 
bond, beaded joints, elliptical entrance arch, and symmetrical facade and plan, 
successor to the Georgian Sophia's Dairy (HA- 5 } and predecessor to the Col. John 
Street House (HA-1214) and the Graybeal-Kelly house (HA-229). 

The 1866 addition and improvements with the lengthening of the principal facade 
into unmistakeable impressiveness, the over-scaled dormers and window and door ornament, 
the conversion of the hall and parlor of the Federal section into a ballroom, the 
._..ick veneering of the stone kitchen building to give it more elegance and to include 
.c within the design of the house--all bespeak a desire to magnify the effect and to 

"See Continuation Sheet #1 11 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 
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Churchville, MD 21028 

HA-144 
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On the interior this section contains two rooms with a winder staircase in the 
Southwest cornerJalthough it probably originally had a center hall plan with the 
main staircase in the hall. The rearrangement of floorboards in the second floor hall 
corroborates such a plan. Probably around the time of the 1866 addition, the room 
on the East was transfonned into a ballroom with plaster ceiling ornament and a 
foliate ceiling medallion. Both rooms have Victorian gray marble mantels. The trim 
consists of the following out-sized elements, from the outside in: fillet-quirked 
ogee-fillet-bead. The second floor has been re-partitioned, but there are stone 
hearths in the bedrooms corresponding with the fireplaces on the first floor. The 
attic has been finished with plaster walls and does not give access to the attic 
over the East section. 

2) The 1866 addition on the East is laid in common bond. The interior contains 
one room and one entrance hall on the West, with a closet at the end. The mantel in 
the East room is like those in the West section; cupboards flank the chimney breast. 
The molded trim is like that in the ell. The second floor room has only a flue for a· 
stove, and the attic, finished with plaster, connects to that over the ell. 

3) The ell, which was probably built before the 1866 addition, is laid in co111T1on 
bond on the east side, like the East side of the 1866 addition, and fieldstone on 
the North end and West side. The interior contains a stairhall on the South and, 
on the North, through a hall under the stairs which also gives access to the basement 
staircase, a room with a fireplace and winder staircase in the Northwest corner and an 
exterior door in the Northeast corner. The doorway in the West wall, although now 
leading into the one-story stone wing, appears to have been an exterior door with 
beaded trim and a stone sill. The wall here is double thickness, i.e. two abutting 
stone walls, and it is possible that one of the two structures was moved to this location. 
In the basement unde~ the ell are full log joists with hewn bottoms and a hewn sill. 
The attic of the ell is finished with plaster walls. 

4) The one-story stone wing at the Northwest corner of the ell is laid in fieldstone 
with a window and entrance in the North side with fluted sandstone lintels. The door has 
been replaced and has a replaced wooden lintel as well. The window in the West side 
has a rough stone lintel, and clapboard siding is in evidence in the gable of the 
South side. This wing contains one room with a concrete floor and no basement. Wooden 
coathooks line the wall. 

5) The smokehouse/icehouse attached to the North end of the ell contains a smoke­
house in the second story with what appear to be sawn rafters butted together and loose 
random width floor boards laid in dirt or sawdust. The ice house is reached by a bulkhead 
entrance in the East side and has two unidentified slits in the wall. There is another 
room in the West end of this structure of uncertain function. 

"See continuation sheet #2" 
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Churchville, MD 21028 
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The farm outbuildings are arranged in 3 main clusters. Directly north of the house 
is a row of 4 mid-19th century frame structures on raised stone foundations. Fron the 
east, they are (see plat): #3 - a 2-story board- and- batten wagon shed with grain storane 
overhead, measuring 24'3" X 28'5", with a gable front roof; on the south side are sliding 
doors in the lst story and a rulley and casement doors in the qable. #4 a 2-story, 
centilevered, vertical board 9ranary (20'X20'l") with a gable flank roof and an exterior 
staircase on the west end; the floor joists are puncheons and the rafters are tree trunks, 
while the structure is hewn and the interior lined with metal. A one-story concrete block 
addition spans the north side of the granary and the adjoinina shed (#5). The latter is 
one-story, vertical board and board-and-batten, constructed in 2 parts - the eastern section 
measuring 30'3" by 12'5", the western section 14'2" by 12'5". Separated from the other 
structures by the drive leading north to the barn is #6, the corn crib, vertical board on 
stone piers with a gable flank roof with a lean-to forming a drive-in space and second crib 
on the north. The corn crib has a standard post-and-beam frame, which uses cut nails. 

North of this complex is a later, probably early 20th century, barn complex. The 
dairy bank barn itself (#13) is board-and-batten on a poured concrete foundation with a 
circular sawn post-and-beam pegged frame. The siding has renular-sized holes soaced 
erratically. Northwest and northeast of the barn are other concrete block sheds (#13,#14-). 

West of the brick house is a 2-story board-and-batten barn (#11) on a rubblestone 
foundation, measuring 39'6" by 40'8", with an apparently recent 2-story addition (27'4"X 
36'6'') on the south. There are what seem to be mortise holes in the rubblestone foun~ation 
of the south side, apparently for a earlier addition. 

The area surrounding the house with a sculpted topoqraohy seems to have been landscaped 
forn1ally at one time. The iron lattice fence around the house came from the old Conowinno 
Bridge. 
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Churchville, MD 21028 

HA-144 
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impress the visitor (the rear or North facade, in contrast to the front, is relatively 
haphazard and unpretentious). ~vidence of formal landscapinq contributes to the sumptious 
effect of a grand estate. 

Not to be discounted, however, is the natural beauty of the site's topo9raphy and its 
value as a large farm, used for agricultural purposes since 1t least the beginninq of the 
19th century. An older barn located near the present barn,(#11) was torn down before the 
present owners purchased the farm in 1953. It is said to hcve been the largest barn in 
the county, with a hay mow in which a 4-horse team and hay waqon could turn around. 

Footnotes 

l. Equity Case #371 
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..itevenson w. Close and Richard H. Webster 
Coolbranch Road 
Churchville, Maryland 21028 
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HDC 968 985 
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Grantee: 
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Gran tor: 
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Gran.tor: 
Grantee: 
Acreage: 

Grant or: 
Grantee: 
Acreage: 

Gran tor: 
Grantee: 
Acreage: 

Grant or: 
Grantee: 

Richard Henry Webster and Stevenson Williams Close 
Pete:::" A. Jay 
103.10 acres, being the entire tract conveyed by 
Peter Jay to Webster a~d Close in 1950 and part of 
of a tract conveyed by North Charleston Lands Cor­
poration to Webster and Close in 4/24/50. 

Stevenson Williams Close 
Stevenson W. Close and Richard Henry '.fabster 
Richard H. Webster being an assign of 'dilliam '.o/ebster 
who died on 5/17/72. 

North Charleston Lands Corporation 
William 11/ebster and Stevenson W. Close 
290.156 acres. 

North Charleston Land Corporation 
Stevenson w. Close and '.'1illiam '.'iebster 
Small triangular strip containing .25 acres used by 
North Charleston Lands Corp. and their predecessors 
for many years as an entrance and driveway. 
Edwin M. and Kate V. Caudill sold land to above na11ed 
granters. 

Peter and Gertrude Jay 
William Webster a~d Stevenson W. Close 
45.8 acres, being a portion of "Westwood". This lot 
was sold to Peter A. Jay in 1975• Jay's father had 
purchased it fror.i Sugene and Billie Mae Todd. 

Chase a.~d Ruth c. Coale 
'tlillia'!l Aebster a!'ld Stevenson 1:1. Close 

Acreage: .75 acres. 

Granter: Edwin and Kate V. Caudill 
Grantee: Coolbranch Lands, Inc. (The North Charleston Lands 

Coroora~ion having become the successor of Cool­
branch Lands, Inc.) 

G!'a:'ltor: "9r. 3. Dennis Spalding and ~-:argaret C. Spalding 
'~n'.ltee: Sdwin 1·:. and Kate V. Caudill 
Acreage: 291 acres, 3 roods, 24 sq. perches of a tract called 

Hall's ~ich Neck. 

~ranter: J. Morton McI!vain and wife 
Grantee: B. Den:1is and Margaret C. Spalding 

Gr:inter: Bernard S. Mcilvain 
Grantee: J. ~orton Mcilvain 
Gra:itor: J. Morton and Berm1rd S. Mcilvain 
Grantee: Henry 3. Mcilvain 



Coolbranch Farm 
HA - 143 & 141+ 
Con:inued 

WSF 125 225 10/27/08 

',>/SF 82 401 12/17/1894 

HD 28 8 1/2/1843 

HD 27 385 12/24/1842 

Equity Docket 351, B-20 

SR 1 465 9/16/1828 

SR 1 355 10/23/1825 

HD 2 402 8/2/1809 

Grant or: 
Grantee: 

Gran tor: 
Grantee: 

Gran tor: 
Grantee: 

Henry Mcilvain 
J. Morton ~cilvain 

Willard G. Rouse, trustee, estate of Jeremiah Mcilvain 
Bernard s. and J. Morton Mcilvain 

William and Aurealia Sappington 
Jeremiah Mcilvain 

Acreage: Hall's Rich Neck, property "on which Willia!!'! Brown 
now resides." 

Gran tor: 
Grantee: 

Otho Scott, Trustee 
1:/illiarn Sappington 

James Wallace vs. Thomas Brown a..--id others. 
Records have been lost. 

Grantor: Last Will and Testement of Mary B. Brown 
Grantee: ':lilliarn. Brown "I give and Bequeath to my son ·:illiam 

Brown the plantation on which he now lives called 
Hall's Rich Neck together with a small piece of land 
containing about 1 acre which he has had the use of 
with the mill and seat ••• 11 

Grar1tor: Last Will and Testement of ?reeborn Brown 
Grantee: Mary B. Brown, his wife. 

Petitio11 of Freeborn Brown: " ••• your petitioner is seized or 
possessed of pa.rt of a tract C3.lled ''Hall's Rich Neck ••• prays 
that your Honors will grant him a petition Co~mission to prove 
and perpetuate the bounds of the tract of la.'ld aforesaid ••• ri 
Tho~as Hall, it is stated in the petition, sold property to 
William Cox approximately 19 years before (1790). 
The 13.nd was resurveyed as a result of this petition and mark:!d 
H R N R. 

The 17'33 ~!aryland I'ax List shows that Thomas Hall owned 652 acres of Hall's Rich Neck, 
.Loc01":eJ in Susqneh"lnna Hund?:"ed, 
'I'':-ie 1793 Federal Tax List shows Freeborn Brown owned 671 acres in the Susquah.3.nna Hundred• 
.. I'!-,e r:J-.ielling on this land was occ'.lpied by 'll'illia':l Markey. 
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Coolbranch Fann HA-144 
Churchville, MD 21028 
N. Shivers 

2 /80 
South 





Coolbranch Fann HA-144 
Churchville, MD 21028 
N. Shivers 
2/80 
East end & smokehouse/icehouse 





Coolbranch Fann HA-144 
Churchville, MD 21028 
N. Shivers 
2/80 
Northwest 





Coolbranch Farm 
Churchville, Md. 21028 
8/80 
Natalie Shivers 
Corn crib 

HA- 144 





Coolbranch Farm 
Churchville, Md . 21028 
8/80 
Natalie Shivers 
Barn 

·~---

HA- 144 





Coo1branch Farm 
Churchvi11e, Md . 21028 
8/80 
Natalie Shivers 
Shed, granary, wagon shed 

HA-144 





Coolbranch Farm 
Churchville, Md . 21028 
8/80 
Natalie Shivers 
Dairy barn complex 

HA- 144 
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